# Air pollution emitted during traditional coffee ceremonies in Ethiopia, a health risk for women

JOHAN EDLUND 2019 MVEM13 EXAMENSARBETE FÖR MASTEREXAMEN 30 HP MILJÖVETENSKAP | LUNDS UNIVERSITET



# Air pollution emitted during traditional coffee ceremonies in Ethiopia, a health risk for women

Johan Edlund

2019-11-13



Johan Edlund MVEM13 Master's thesis in Environmental Health, 30 higher education credits, Lund University Supervisor: Christina Isaxon, Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology (EAT), Lund University

Centre for Environmental and Climate Research (CEC) Lund University Lund 2019

## Abstract

Indoor air pollution is a problem of great concern, estimating to cause around 2 million premature deaths, with 400.000 cases suspected to happen in Sub-Saharan Africa. In this thesis, indoor air pollution emissions associated with the Ethiopian traditional coffee ceremony has been studied as a model for cooking exposure. Coffee preparation is a ceremony which is conducted in almost every Ethiopian home at least twice a day. The purpose of this project is to get a better understanding of the levels and the characteristics of air pollution from the use of small scale stoves in indoor environments. The study has been conducted in 45 Ethiopian homes (measurements was conducted in 28 homes), in the city of Adama. The data from the measurements conducted in this thesis might help to understand the extent of the problem, especially as there is a lack of data from the region. The result of the study shows that particle mass  $(PM_{2.5})$  and particle number (PN<sub>0.5</sub>) and Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) increase when stoves are ignited indoors. The use of incense further increases the number of particles and PAHs. The high concentrations of PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>0.5</sub> and Benzo[a]pyrene (BaPyr) that have been measured in this study might be hazardous to women in Ethiopia, therefore further investigations are needed to achieve more knowledge about the health effects of this exposure.

## Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Pur	pose	9			
3	Background					
	3.1	The Ethiopian coffee ceremony	11			
	3.2	United Nations development strategies	11			
4	Inde	oor air pollution	12			
	4.1	Air pollution from coffee ceremonies and cooking in Ethiopia	13			
	4.2	Air pollution from incense burning	14			
	4.3	Compounds	15			
5	Met	hodology and materials	17			
	5.1	Survey	17			
	5.2	Air measurements	17			
	5.3	PAH analysis	18			
	5.4	Statistical analysis	20			
	5.5	Ethical Considerations	20			
6	Res	ılt	21			
	6.1	Particle concentration	21			
	6.2	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons	29			
	6.3	Survey	32			
7	Dise	cussion	35			
8	8 Conclusion					

## Abbreviations

Ace - Acenaphthene Acy - Acenaphthylene Ant - Anthracene BaAnt - Benz[*a*]anthracene BaPyr - Benzo[*a*]pyrene BbFl - Benzo[*b*]fluoranthene BghiPer - Benzo[g,h,i]perylene BkFl - Benzo[k]fluoranthene CaCO3 - Calcium carbonate Chr - Chrysene CO - Carbon monoxide DBahAnt - Dibenz[*a*,*h*]anthracene EPA - United States Environmental Protection Agency F - Fluorene Fl - Fluoranthene GM - Geometric Mean IPyr - Indeno[*1,2,3-c,d*]pyrene IS - Internal standard LOD - Limit of detection N - Naphthalene NIST - National Institute of Standardsand Technology NOx - Nitrogen oxides P - Phenanthrene PAH - Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons PM - Particle mass PN - Particle number Pyr - Pyrene SIM - Selected ion monitoring mode WHO - World Health Organization

## 1 Introduction

In this thesis, indoor air pollution emitted from traditional stoves during coffee ceremonies in the homes of Ethiopians, in Adama, are studied (see Figure 1). The Ethiopian coffee ceremony is conducted in almost every home, several times a day (Keil et al., 2010). Indoor air pollution are important to study since inhalation of these might be linked to health-related issues. One group that is especially affected by indoor-generated air pollution are the Ethiopian women since they spend many hours of everyday cooking food and preparing coffee (Dyjack et al., 2005; Keil et al., 2010; Mishra et al., 2004; Pennise et al., 2009). A particularly vulnerable group is children which might be even more affected by the air pollution than adults due to a lighter breathing frequency and since their lungs are still under development (Dyjack et al., 2005). Women who are exposed to air pollution in the indoor environment are three times more likely to suffer from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease compared with women who use cleaner fuels for cooking like electricity and gas (World Bank, 2011). Like in other developing countries, cooking in Ethiopia often takes place indoors without any adequate ventilation (Pennise et al., 2009). A pilot study has shown that the particles which are generated by cooking in Ethiopia resulted in pollution levels that are 60-80 times higher than WHO health recommendation (Lund University, 2018).

Previous studies have mostly been focusing on the health effects from the smoke of fossil fuels (Naeher et al., 2007), analysing the composition of air pollution from the combustion of biomass are important since the lack of data makes it difficult for policymakers, despite some studies of indoor air pollution in Ethiopia (Tefera et al., 2016).



Figure 1: Map of Ethiopia and its location in Africa.

## 2 Purpose

The purpose of this thesis is to achieve a better understanding of the concentrations and the characteristics of airborne particles  $PM_{2.5}$  (particles with an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 2.5 micrometres) and Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) emitted during coffee ceremonies. A small survey was as well held with the participants to broaden the perspective of the study.

#### **Research** questions

- What is the chemical composition of the PAHs generated during coffee ceremonies?
- What levels of  $PM_{2.5}$  and  $PN_{0.5}$  does the average women in Adama, Ethiopia get exposed to during the process of making coffee?
- How does the location of ignition and use of incense affect the particle exposure from coffee preparation?

### Hypothesis

• Particles and PAH concentrations will be higher when the stove is ignited indoors and when incense is used during the ceremonies.

### 3 Background

With about 102 million people, Ethiopia is the second most populated country in Africa. The country is located in the northeastern part of Africa (see Figure 1), in the region is known as "the horn of Africa". Half of the total households in urban areas in the sub-Saharan African region are considered poor (Karekezi, & Majoro, 2002). Despite a fast-growing economy, Ethiopia is still among the low income countries in the world with a GDP per capita of 767 USD. About 80 % of the population live in rural areas (World Bank[a], [b]). In 2015, the average life expectancy for a newborn was 63 years for a male and 67 years for a female (World Health Organization[a]). In Ethiopia, like in many other countries around the world, air pollution is a big problem causing health problems and premature deaths. One of the main contributors to the adverse health effects is traffic-related air pollution (Naidja et al., 2017), but in many less developed countries, indoor-generated air pollution is also a huge problem (World Health Organization[b]). Burning organic material is a reason for high levels of indoor air pollution in developing countries (Morawska et al., 2013). In developing countries, exposure to indoor air pollution can be directly linked to poverty (Fullerton, Bruce & Gordon, 2008). In sub-Saharan countries, the proportion of people which are dependent on these organic material varies between 68 % and 90 %, in Ethiopia the proportions are over 90 % (Gebreegziabher et al., 2018; Tucho et al., 2014), which is the highest number on the African continent (Alem et al., 2010). The country consumes about 91.2 million tons of wood and 4.2 million tons of charcoal every year. The huge consumption of wood for e.g cooking and coffee ceremonies, is not only related to health problems, but it is also contributing to deforestation, land degradation of the country and climate changes (Benka-Cokeret al., 2018; Mekonnen, 1999). The cost of biomass fuel can vary between urban areas in Ethiopia (Kebede, Bekele, & Kedir, 2002), but the use of biomass as fuel does not often only depend on the affordability, it also has strong cultural connections and is, therefore, a question of preference (Alem., 2010). Many household in urban areas continue to use biomass fuel for cooking, even if alternative energy sources are available (Abebaw, 2007; Mugo, & Ong, 2006). On the other hand, there are studies pointing out that (i) the dependence of biomass fuels for a household is significantly decreasing with income in Ethiopia (Kebede et al., 2002); and (ii) that education is negatively affecting the quantity of firewood consumed in a household (Abebaw, 2007). Only 27 % of Ethiopia's population has access to electricity (92 % urban, 12 % rural population) (Benka-Coker et al., 2018). The Welfare Monitoring Survey (Central statistical agency, 2016) shows that the most used fuel for cooking in Ethiopian urban areas are firewood (54.18 %) followed by electricity (21.42 %) and charcoal (16.73 %), in rural areas firewood (90.42 %) is by far the most used type of fuel, followed by dung/manure (4.42 %) and crop residue/leaves (4.21 %). The proportions are an average value and can vary between locations.

#### 3.1 The Ethiopian coffee ceremony

The Ethiopian coffee ceremony is a tradition with long historical and cultural roots in Ethiopian communities (Pennise et al., 2009). The ceremony of making coffee in Ethiopia is elaborate. First, the charcoal is lit on fire (most often done outdoors), then the stove is carried indoors to a central place in the home and roasting of the coffee beans is initiated (*see Figure 2*). After roasting is done the beans are ground, added to a coffee pot, and water is added. During the boiling process, some charcoal is removed into a smaller vessel to which incense is added. After serving the coffee, new water is added to the beans. This process is conducted three times. During all of the ceremony, the guests are present in the room to savour the aroma of roasted beans and incense. The full procedure takes about 1.5 hours and is in general conducted several times a day (Keil et al., 2010). Snacks like bread, nuts, seeds and popcorn are commonly consumed the process of making the coffee (*see Figure 3*). Inhaling the smoke from the roasted coffee beans during the ceremony is also a common part of the ceremony (Tefera et al., 2016).



Figure 2: Coffee roasting in process.

Figure 3: Picture from a coffee ceremony.

#### 3.2 United Nations development strategies

Despite the concern that burning fuels like e.g charcoal and wood can cause health effects, the magnitude of the problem will grow even more due to increased population. The number of people in the world, which will be dependent on which energy sources for cooking is expected to increase to 2.7 billion people by 2030 (International Energy Agency, 2006). Strategies are an important step for sustainable development, the United Nation has therefore introduced seventeen so called "Sustainable Development Goals" (SDGs). The target was to create new goals which were built upon the previous Millennium Development Goals, which had the aim to end all forms of poverty. The idea of the new goals was to incorporate other aspects of the issues that humans are experiencing and will experience in the future, and countries must contribute to reach

the goals (United Nations[a]). Two of the seventeen goals can be directly linked to this thesis, those are: goal number 3 'Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages' and goal number 7 'Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all. Making a transition to cleaner energies, which more people have access to is a challenging task (Spalding-Fecher et al., 2005). To deal with the problems related to fuels like charcoal and wood, and the health-related impacts of those, United Nations has the target to substantially reduce the death caused by air pollution (United Nations[b]), and to ensure universal access to affordable, reliable and modern energy sources by 2030 (United Nations[c]).

## 4 Indoor air pollution

Exposure to airborne particulate matter (PM) is of great concern and can be related to several health issues. Almost 2 million premature deaths per year are estimated to be caused by indoor air pollution worldwide, 400.000 of those occurs in Sub-Saharan Africa (World Bank, 2011), and around 41 million disability-adjusted life years<sup>1</sup> (DALYs) are estimated to be lost globally due to indoor air pollution (World Health Organization, 2004). In Ethiopia, pregnancy related preeclampsia is the primary cause of maternal death. The cause of preeclampsia is still not fully understood (Levine et al., 2004), but recent research has shown correlations between increasing levels of air pollution and preeclampsia in Sweden, even with the relatively low levels of pollution (Malmqvist, 2014). Studies have also shown that children whose mothers were exposed to wood smoke during pregnancy achieve lower scores on neuropsychological tests (Das et al., 2017).

Indoor particles and their composition and toxicity are complex since they interact with other particles with both indoor and outdoor origin (Morawska et al., 2013). It is not fully understood which characteristics of the airborne particles that contribute the most to negative effects on human health (Buonanno et al., 2013). Naeher et al. (2007) suggest to study the health effects from a mixture of pollutants rather than the effects by the individual pollutants themselves. Several studies shows that indoor air pollution might causes adverse health effects like cardiovascular diseases, respiratory infections, lower birth weight of children, asthma, laryngeal cancer and tuberculosis (Sanbata, Asfaw, & Kumie, 2014). Exposure to PM<sub>2.5</sub> may result in a lower life expectancy (Morawska et al., 2017). These particles can be emitted during cooking with organic material like charcoal, animal dung and wood as fuel (Buonanno et al., 2013; Fullerton et al., 2008; Mishra et al., 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Definition: "One DALY can be thought of as one lost year of "healthy" life. The sum of these DALYs across the population, or the burden of disease, can be thought of as a measurement of the gap between current health status and an ideal health situation where the entire population lives to an advanced age, free of disease and disability." (World Health Organization[c]).

#### 4.1 Air pollution from coffee ceremonies and cooking in Ethiopia

In Ethiopia, many households use a traditional type of stove for cooking and coffee ceremonies, it is made of steel (see Figure 4) and clay in which charcoal is used as fuel (Keil et al., 2010). A study conducted in 82 households, between 1999 and 2000 in sub-cities to Jimma, Ethiopia, found that the levels of total suspended particles (TSP), PAH and CO exceeded their limits set by WHO guidelines 1987. Fifty out of the households (61 %) experienced levels which exceeded the limit for TSP (120  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). The participating women and girls in the study were exposed to pollution from cooking up to four hours per day (Tefera et al., 2016). Another conducted in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, showed high levels of  $PM_{2.5}$  range (136 - 12737 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), average: 1580  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in the kitchen of 69 homes (100 %) during 24 hours (Tefera et al., 2016). The levels exceeded the guideline (25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> 24-hour mean) set by WHO (World Health Organization, 2006). Decreasing the concentrations of indoor air pollution from cooking and coffee ceremonies is possible. A study in Ethiopia and Ghana by Pennise et al. (2009) indicates that the concentrations of  $PM_{2.5}$  and CO can be decrease by 52-84 % and 40-76 %, respectively, by changing the type of stoves. Another study by Dyjack et al. (2005) conducted in Gimbie, Ethiopia, compared airborne particles from the stove that use wood to those without. It was showed that the highest concentrations were found in the homes which used biomass as fuel (Dyjack et al., 2005).



Figure 4: Picture of an Ethiopian traditional stove.

#### 4.2 Air pollution from incense burning

Incense has been used in thousands of years for a variety of reasons, e.g religious ceremonies. Today, incense is stil used in the daily life of many people around the world, e.g coffee ceremonies in Ethiopia (Jetter et al., 2002; Keil et al., 2010). Incenses consist of e.g resins, oils, seeds, herbs, species and chemicals, and can be produced in different forms like sticks and powders. Burning of various types of incenses is an important source of indoor air pollution around the world, especially for PAHs and PM<sub>2.5</sub> (Cheng, Bechtold, Yu & Hung, 1995; Lung & Hu, 2003; See, & Balasubramanian, 2011), CO, NOx, and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Lee, & Wang, 2004). Smoke from incense burning may be linked to asthma, dermatitis or cancer. Some studies e.g Jetter et al. (2002), however, have not found any connection between lung cancer and incense burning, Jetter et al. (2002) measured the emissions from 23 different types of incense and found that the particle concentration emitted from incense burning depends on the type of incense, with  $PM_{2.5}$  levels ranging between 5 - 56 mg/g of incense burned, and the emission rates for  $PM_{2.5}$  range (7 - 202 mg/h). The same study also measured the emission rate of gases for 7 different types of incense and found levels of CO range (144 - 531 mg/h), SO<sub>2</sub> range (1.4 - 25.5 mg/h) and NO range (0.16 - 4.39 mg/h). Hussein et al. (2006) showed that the total particle number concentration increased from  $8 \times 10^2$  to  $1.2 \times 10^4$  per cm<sup>3</sup> when an incense stick was burned. Another study from Löfroth, Stensman, & Brandhorst-Stazkorn. (1991) measured the emission in mg/g burned of different incense and found levels of CO range (180 - 220), isoprene (0.8 -1.1) and benzene (0.42 - 0.44). Incense burning does also contribute to significantly increased levels of carbonyls a study conducted in a home in Hong Kong shows that concentrations can reach up to 179 ppb $_v$  (Formaldehyde 57.5 %, Acetaldehyde 9 %) during the burning period from three incense sticks with the weight of 1.3 g each (Ho, & Yu, 2002). Indoor measurements of 11 incense with an average burning time of 114 min showed that 68.8 % of the particle number was within the range of 10-100 nm in diameter, 23.8 % were in the range of 100-200 nm (Wallace., 2006). Another study by (Géhin, Ramalho & Kirchner, 2008) demonstrated particle sizes of 100 and 180 nm. Experiments by Stabile, Fuoco, & Buonanno (2012) reported a particle size of 200 nm. Measurements conducted in an 18.12 m<sup>3</sup> test chamber on 10 different types of incenses from countries in Asia, Africa and Europe, showed different concentrations of air pollution. Varying levels of pollution from incense burning from the literature is probably due to different types of additives to the incense (Stabile et al., 2012). Results from (Yang, Lin, Peng, Lee & Chang, 2012) shows that it's possible to decrease the particular matter by 5-30 % and PAHs by 9-28 %, from incense stick (bamboo) burning by adding calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) to the incense powder.

#### 4.3 Compounds

#### Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a group of compounds, some of these are both carcinogenic and mutagenic (World Health Organization, 2010). PAHs are produced by incomplete combustion of organic matter (Karolinska Institutet[a]). In the body, some PAHs gets metabolized and reacts with DNA, possibly causing DNA adducts and later DNA mutations, that might lead to cancer (Kemikalieinspektionen, 2016). Lung cancer is the most serious health-related issue linked to PAH exposure (World Health Organization, 2010). One study has shown that particulates from cooking sources can result in considerable concentrations of high molecular weight PAHs (Ohura et al., 2004; World Health Organization, 2010). There is no general guidelines regarding PAH, instead benso[*a*]pyrene (BaPyr) is used as a marker of PAH, as it is known to be carcinogenic (World Health Organization, 2010; Ohura et al., 2004). BaPyr at levels above 1.0 ng/m<sup>3</sup> is associated with an increased genomic frequency of translocations, micronuclei and DNA fragmentation (World Health Organization, 2010).

#### Carbon monoxide

Carbon monoxide (CO) is a toxic gas which can be created when e.g biomass is burned under circumstances which result in incomplete combustion (Naeher et al., 2007; World Health Organization, 2010). The gas is toxic due to its chemical properties. When inhaled, the gas binds to the haemoglobin of the red blood cells resulting in an impaired ability for the red blood cells to transport oxygen to the body. This is due to that the carbon monoxide has a 250 times stronger tendency to bind to the haemoglobin compared to oxygen. Lowe concentrations of CO can result in headache, dizziness and nausea, higher concentrations can result in convulsions, breathing problems and unconsciousness. WHO has different guidelines for CO concentrations in the indoor environment depending on the exposure time and type of activity, these are: 100 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 15 minute period and 35 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 60 minute period (during light exercise, and persons should also not be exposed to these levels more than once per day), 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (arithmetic mean concentration) for 8 hours (during light to moderate exercise) and 7 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (arithmetic mean concentration) for 24 hours (during time the person is awake) (World Health Organization, 2010).

#### NOx

NOx is a group of nitrogen oxides, two of these are nitrogen monoxide (NO) and nitrogen dioxide NO<sub>2</sub>. NO is a radical compound, which primary is produced during combustion, and is therefore common in e.g woodsmoke (Naeher et al., 2007). Upon contact with oxygen in the air, NO can oxidize to NO<sub>2</sub>. A large amount of inhaled NO can result in vasodilator effects, and inhalation of NO<sub>2</sub> can result in bronchial reactivity when the concentration is at least 200  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (Karolinska Institute[b]) and acute health effects if exposed to 500  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> during a 60 minute period (World Health Organization, 2006). The WHO guideline for NO<sub>2</sub> in an indoor environments is 200  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (60-minute mean) and 40  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (annual mean) (World Health Organization, 2006).

#### Soot

Soot consists of particulate matter from unburned fuel residues and hydrocarbons (e.g PAH). Soot is created when organic material is combusted with low oxygen levels (Karolinska Institutet[c]). Soot particles are a health concern due to their ability to adsorb other toxins, and due to their small size, meaning that they can end up in the alveoli of the lungs (Isaxon et al., 2015).

## 5 Methodology and materials

The study was conducted in 45 homes in the city Adama also known by the name Nazret (coordinates 8.54°N 39.27°E), Oromia region. Due to limitation in time of the study, most of the participants were chosen among a cohort of 2000 women, who are participating in health related studies regarding tuberculosis and preeclampsia in the town. These women, had given their approval to participate prior to the visits. Other participants were found among the neighbours to those who are participating in the studies regarding tuberculosis and preeclampsia, since their approval to participate as well facilitated the feasibility of the study. The focus on urban areas is also due to the limitation of time during the field period and the fact that the sample group lives in the urban area. To establish scientific grounds to draw a conclusion of how the pollution affect the women, a survey in the research field was done. The articles were found using the database 'Web of Science Core Collection' with all databases selected and the search engine 'Google Scholar'. Search words that were used are combinations of e.g "indoor air pollution" "Ethiopia" "traditional stove" "Stove" "PM 2.5" "PAH" "coffee" "coffee ceremony" "coffee ceremonies".

#### 5.1 Survey

A survey is a commonly used as a method to gather data in studies related to human health (Jakobsson, & Westergren, 2005), the survey used in this study (*see Appendix I*) is used as a complement to the quantitative results from the indoor measurements. The survey used is similar to that of a previous study in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia (Keil et al., (2010). As Jakobsson and Westergren (2015) argue, the survey was held in the mother tongue of the respondents, in this case in Amharic. Answers from the respondents were later translated into English.

#### 5.2 Air measurements

Time-resolved air measurements were conducted with two instruments, DustTrak DRX and Purple Air monitor. The DustTrak DRX with a 2.5  $\mu$ m inlet, was used to measure the mass concentration (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) of PM<sub>2.5</sub> with a time resolution of 10 seconds. The Purple Air monitor was used to measure PM<sub>1</sub>, PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> and particle number (particles/cm<sup>3</sup>) in fractions PN<sub>0.3</sub>, PN<sub>0.5</sub>, PN<sub>1</sub>, PN<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>5</sub> and PN<sub>10</sub> with a time resolution of 80 seconds. Open filter cassettes with teflone membranes and sorbent tubes (XAD-2 8x110 mm, SKC 266-30) connected to a pump, were used to sample particles/gas phase that was later analysed for Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Five filter membrane and sorbent tubes were used as field blanks for this study, the filter membrane blanks were brought to Ethiopia while the sorbent tubes were not. The flow ( $\ell$ /min) through the pump was measured before and after sampling. All measurements were conducted in the women's breathing zone, i.e no further than 30 cm from her

nose/mouth. Due to practical reasons linked to the equipment, measurements were not made in the breathing zone, during the time of ignition for those ceremonies where the stove was ignited outdoors. The measurements were conducted about 1-5 minutes before (to get an exposure baseline), during and after (until the air pollution levels have declined to baseline) the process of making coffee. To study how location of ignition and use of incense affect the exposure, the quantitative data were compared to detailed log books about the coffee ceremony procedure itself. The mass of the charcoal and coffee beans was weighed as well.

#### 5.3 PAH analysis

#### Sample Preparation for analysis

Membranes from the open filters, were removed from the surrounding plastic ring and placed in a glass tube. The polymeric material from the matching XAD-2 tubes was added to the corresponding filter membrane. Polymeric material from unused XAD tubes was added to the filter blank membranes. To each sample and blanks,  $40 \mu l$  of deuterium labelled PAHs, (1 ng/ml) and 3 ml dichloromethane was added and then sonicated using a Sonica Ultrasonic Extractor (Soltec) for twelve minutes (maximal amplitude). Extracts were cleaned up using silica columns. Columns were washed with dichloromethane and remaining extracts were combined and evaporated with the extract from the clean up. When half of the volume of dichloromethane was evaporated, 2 ml of hexane was added for solvent exchange. Extracts were further evaporated to near dryness and transferred into a HPLC vial (with glass insert). Samples were spiked with 40  $\mu$ l of octafluoronaphthalene as recovery standard (1 ng/ml), and one drop of toluene was added.

#### Gas chromatography - mass spectrometry analysis

In total, analysis was performed for 16 PAHs, suggested by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) priority pollutant list (EPA, 2014). The methodology used is the same as reported by Strandberg et al. (2018) and Klein, (2018). Samples were analysed using chromatography/low resolution mass spectrometry (HRGC/LRMS) with an Agilent 5975C mass spectrometer (MS) coupled to an 7890A gas chromatograph (GC) (Agilent Technologies). Samples (2 µl) were injected using an Agilent autosampler unit. The capillary column used was a DB-5MS (30 m × 0.25 mm, 0.25 µm, Agilent Technologies). Helium was the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. During the GC-phase, the compounds from the samples gets vaporized before entering the column. The temperature program was as follows: initial temperature at 50 °C for 3 min; ramp at 10 °C/min to 180 °C and held for 5 min; ramp at 3 °C/min to 300 °C and held for 20 min; injection at oven temperature at 250 °C; and transfer line at 250 °C. Sample injection volume was 2 µl (splitless injection mode). Once in the column, the compounds gets separated from each other and leave the column after different times. In the MS-phase, compounds get ionization, in this case at 70 eV energy, 230 °C ion source temperature. Ionized molecules than passes through a quadrupole and a magnetic field, at 150 °C. The magnetic field separates the different compounds based on their charge and weight. The MS was operated in selected ion monitoring mode (SIM), (see Strandberg et al., 2018).



Figure 5: Schematic diagram of the gas chromatography - mass spectrometry analysis.

#### Quality control

Standard reference material "diesel exhaust 2975" from National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) was used as Quality Controls. *Appendix III* shows the results of the quality controls compared to the certified reference value. The analyzed values for PAHs matched closely the values from values reported from NIST, confirming the reliability of this method. For the PAHs, analysis of quality controls can be compared to certified values of the following compounds (according to NIST): N, F, P, Ant, Fl, Pyr, BaAnt, Chr, BkFl, BaPyr, IPyr, DBahAnt and BghiPer. The limit of detection (LOD) was calculated for individual PAHs as 3 times the standard deviation divided by average air sampling volume of the samples. The LODs ranged from 0.007 ng/m<sup>3</sup> (BghiPer) to 0.87 ng/m<sup>3</sup> (N). LOD for respective sample is calculated as three times the standard deviation of the field blanks, divided by the average air sampling volume. The concentration of PAHs found in the field blanks were subtracted from the coffee ceremony samples.

#### 5.4 Statistical analysis

Independent Samples Test (T-test) was used to compare the geometric mean of PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>0.5</sub>, PN<sub>1</sub>, PN<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>5</sub>, PN<sub>10</sub> and PAHs between coffee ceremonies with different characteristics, P-values < 0.05 was considered as significant. Two-tailed Pearson test was used to analyze the correlation between PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>0.5</sub>, PN<sub>1</sub>, PN<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>5</sub>, PN<sub>10</sub> and PAHs with the mass of coffee and charcoal. Correlation test was used to analyze the relationship between the concentration of PM2.5 and PAHs with an increased amount of charcoal used as fuel or coffee beans roasted, during the ceremony. PAH compounds with a concentration <LOD was treated as LOD ×  $1/2^{0.5}$ , for the statistical tests (Keil et al., 2010). SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM) was used for statistical analyses.

#### 5.5 Ethical Considerations

All identifiable variables (location and GPS coordinates of the participants) are stored in a safe place according to ethical guidelines and a linking key was created and stored accordingly. The work will be conducted in line with international rules and agreements. The study was ethically approved by Armauer Hansen Research Institute (AHRI), in Ethiopia. The results are presented in an aggregated form and no individual participant/home will be identifiable (Vetenskapsrådet, 2017). Formal consent for participation was used and the study participants were informed that they could withdraw from participation at any time. Every woman was compensated with 150 ETB (approximately 5 USD during the time of this study) for their time and to cover up for the cost for coffee beans and charcoal.

## 6 Result

Out of the 28 coffee ceremonies that were analyzed, 3 ceremonies was performed completely outdoors, and 25 indoors. 28 measurements were done with DustTrak, Purple Air monitor was used in parallel during 17 measurements. The coffee ceremonies lasted on average 77 min range (28 - 116 min), the charcoal used weighed on average 208g, range (36 - 342g) and the coffee beans weighed on average 60g range (30 - 128g). Incense was used in 13 of the ceremonies.

#### 6.1 Particle concentration

Since an majority of particles emitted during combustion of biomass has an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 1  $\mu$ m (Tiwari et al., 2014), only PN<sub>0.5</sub> and PM<sub>2.5</sub> will be presented here. Results of PN<sub>1</sub>, PN<sub>2.5</sub>, PN<sub>5</sub>, PN<sub>10</sub> is presented in *Appendix II* 

#### Concentration comparison, location of ceremony

Table 1. Total  $PM_{2.5}$  levels (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and total  $PN_{0.5}$  (particles/cm<sup>3</sup>) during coffee ceremonies, measured indoors and outdoors of the homes.

Location	MEAN $PM_{2.5} (mg/m^3)$	MEAN PN <sub>0.5</sub> (particles/cm <sup>3</sup> )
Indoor	$0.98 \pm 1.05 \ (n = 25)$	$11470 \pm 2622 \ (n = 14)$
Outdoor	0.46 ± 0.56 ( <i>n</i> =3)	4412 ± 2651 ( <i>n</i> =3)

As seen in *Table 1*, the geometric mean concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  was 0.98 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors (range 0.11 - 4.51 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). When ceremonies were held outdoors, particles concentrations in the breathing zone was half, with only 0.45 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (range: 0.21 - 1.44 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). The geometric mean concentration of P0.5 was 11470 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors (range 6963 - 16474 particles/cm<sup>3</sup>). When ceremonies were held outdoors, particles concentrations were 60 % decreased, with only 4412 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> (range 2281 - 8647 particles/cm<sup>3</sup>). Examples of how mass- and number concentration varied with time, from two sites can be seen in *Figure 6* and *Figure 7*.



Figure 6: Measurements from site 27 and 9, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process. After the roasting process, concentration quickly declines for the ceremony held outdoors compared with indoors.



Figure 7: Measurements from site 27 and 9, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "S" indicates the peak concentration from the ignition, "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process. After the roasting process, concentration quickly declines for the ceremony held outdoors compared with indoors.

#### Concentration comparison, location of ignition

Table 2: Total  $PM_{2.5}$  levels (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and total  $PN_{0.5}$  (particles/cm<sup>3</sup>) during coffee ceremonies without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited indoors and outdoors.

Location	MEAN $PM_{2.5} (mg/m^3)$	MEAN PN <sub>0.5</sub> (particles/cm <sup>3</sup> )
Indoor	$1.15 \pm 0.29 \ (n = 3)$	13338 ± 2174 ( <i>n</i> = 2)
Indoor*	$0.83 \pm 0.76 \ (n = 2)$	$14684 \pm 0 \ (n = 1)$
Outdoor	$0.60 \pm 0.37 \ (n = 9)$	9193 ± 1370 ( <i>n</i> = 5)

As seen in *Table 2*, the geometric mean concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  was 1.15 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors and the stove was ignited indoors; particle concentrations was decreased by 30 % to 0.83 mg/m<sup>3</sup> when the ceremonies were held indoors, but the stove was ignited <sup>2</sup>indoors<sup>\*</sup>; particle concentration was 50 % lower, 0.60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors and the stove was ignited outdoors. Due to small sample number, this difference in  $PM_{2.5}$  was not significant (P = 0.105). The geometric mean concentration of  $PN_{0.5}$  was: 13338 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors and the stove was ignited indoors<sup>\*</sup>; 14684 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors and the stove was ignited indoors<sup>\*</sup> and then put outdoors for some minutes; 9193 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors. The concentration of  $PN_{0.5}$  is statistically higher when the stove is ignited indoors compared with when the stove is ignited outdoors (P = 0,018). Examples of how mass- and number concentration varied with time, from two sites can be seen in *Figure 8* and *Figure 9*.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Indoor<sup>\*</sup> = Ceremonies there the stove is ignited indoors, then put outdoors for some minutes, to then be brought indoors again



Figure 8: Measurements from site 27 and 22, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process. After the roasting process, concentration quickly declines for the ceremony held outdoors compared with indoors.



Figure 9: Measurements from site 27 and 22, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "S" indicates the peak concentration from the ignition, "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process. After the roasting process, concentration quickly declines for the ceremony held outdoors compared with indoors.

#### Concentration comparison, incense

Table 3: Total  $PM_{2.5}$  levels (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and total  $PN_{0.5}$  (particle number/cm<sup>3</sup>) during coffee ceremonies with- and without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited outdoors.

Incense	n	MEAN $PM_{2.5}$ (mg/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN PN <sub>0.5</sub> (particles/cm <sup>3</sup> )
Yes	7;2	$1.73 \pm 1.29$	$14169 \pm 1941$
No	9; 5	$0.60 \pm 0.37$	9193 ± 1370

As seen in *Table 3*, the geometric mean concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  was 1.73 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors, when the stove was ignited outdoors and incense was used; 0.60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors, when the stove was ignited outdoors and no incense was used. Particle concentrations were 65 % decreased when no incense was used compared to ceremonies using incense (P = 0.014). The geometric mean concentration of  $PN_{0.5}$  was: 14169 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors and incense was used; 9193 particles/cm<sup>3</sup> for all ceremonies that were held indoors, when the stove was ignited outdoors and no incense was used. Particle concentrations were 40 % decreased, when no incense was used compared to ceremonies using incense (P = 0.011). Examples of how mass- and number concentration varied with time, from two sites can be seen in *Figure 10* and *Figure 11*.



Figure 10: Measurements from site 7 and 22, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process, "I" indicates the peak concentration from the use of incense.



Figure 11: Measurements from site 7 and 22, as seen in the figure both the concentrations of air pollution reached a maximum. "R" indicates the peak concentration from the roasting process, "I" indicates the peak concentration from the use of incense.

### Concentration comparison, mass of coffee and charcoal

Table 4:  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (mg/m<sup>3</sup>), mass of raw coffee beans (g) and of charcoal (g) used used during coffee ceremonies without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited outdoors.

Site	MEAN $PM_{2.5} (mg/m^3)$	Coffee (g)	Charcoal (g)
1	0.11	60.2	233.0
3	0.84	55.9	225.1
6	0.49	128.3	197.3
8	0.50	73.4	129.5
10	0.88	36.1	36.2
15	0.38	72.8	64.8
20	1.36	30.3	330.0

As seen in *Table 4*,  $PM_{2.5}$  levels were not altered, neither by the mass of coffee roasted (P = 0,197) nor charcoal used as fuel (P= 0.437) during coffee ceremonies.

#### Mean and 24-h mean exposure of PM<sub>2.5</sub>

Site	t (min)	MEAN $PM_{2.5} (mg/m^3)$	MEAN 24h ( $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup> )
1	54	0.11	4.1
2	90	3.51	219.2
3	98	0.84	57.2
4	54	0.83	30.9
5	116	0.66	53.1
6	115	0.49	39.0
7	71	4.51	225.6
8	77	0.50	26.5
10	35	0.88	21.4
11	28	1.03	20.0
12	99	0.37	25.3
13	82	1.85	105.3
14	101	1.44	100.7
15	74	0.38	19.6
16	104	1.89	137.6
17	100	3.27	224.5
18	99	0.72	48.3
19	62	1.10	47.5
20	67	1.36	63.2
21	91	0.89	55.9
22	67	0.91	34.7
24	103	2.02	88.4
26	76	0.53	27.8
27	106	1.60	109.9
28	90	0.93	59.0

Table 5: time (min),  $PM_{2.5}~(\text{mg/m}^3)$  and total  $\mu\text{g/m}^3~PM_{2.5}$  (24h mean).

As seen in *Table 5*,  $PM_{2.5}$  levels ranged from 0.11 to 4.51 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. PM2.5 concentrations from 22 houses exceeded the 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> 24-h mean exposure limit set by WHO, just during the ceremonies alone (range: 4.1-225.6).

#### 6.2 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

#### Concentration comparison, location of ignition

Table 6: Total airborne PAH levels (ng/m<sup>3</sup>) during coffee ceremonies without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited indoors and outdoors.

PAH	MEAN PAH ignite indoors (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN PAH ignite outdoors (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )
N	8535.3 ± 2292.5 ( <i>n</i> = 3)	$1929.8 \pm 2671.0 \ (n = 9)$
Асу	$566.1 \pm 530.6 \ (n = 3)$	$85.4 \pm 98.5 \ (n = 9)$
Ace	$66.7 \pm 12.3 \ (n = 3)$	$12.2 \pm 12.9 \ (n = 9)$
F	$407.3 \pm 72.7 \ (n = 3)$	49.5 ± 123.1 ( <i>n</i> = 9)
Р	$782.3 \pm 135.3 \ (n = 3)$	$143.6 \pm 235.6 \ (n = 9)$
Ant	$156.0 \pm 22.0 \ (n = 3)$	$18.5 \pm 44.3 \ (n = 9)$
Fl	$9.3 \pm 20.1 \ (n = 3)$	$2.7 \pm 15.5 \ (n = 9)$
Pyr	$12.2 \pm 17.2 \ (n = 3)$	$2.6 \pm 15.9 \ (n = 9)$
BaAnt	$2.8 \pm 1.7 \ (n = 3)$	$0.5 \pm 0.6 \ (n = 9)$
Chr	$3.1 \pm 1.8 \ (n = 3)$	$0.6 \pm 1.0 \ (n = 9)$
BbFl	$12.4 \pm 8.5 \ (n = 3)$	$1.0 \pm 1.4 \ (n = 9)$
BkFl	$2.3 \pm 1.8 \ (n = 3)$	$0.3 \pm 0.5 \ (n = 9)$
BaPyr	$16.3 \pm 10.6 \ (n = 3)$	$0.9 \pm 1.5 \ (n = 9)$
IPyr	$15.5 \pm 6.5 \ (n = 3)$	$1.7 \pm 3.0 \ (n = 9)$
DBahAnt	$1.3 \pm 0.5 \ (n = 3)$	$0.1 \pm 0.4 \ (n = 9)$
BghPer	$16.1 \pm 4.8 \ (n = 3)$	$2.7 \pm 2.7 (n = 9)$

As seen in *Table 6*, the geometric mean concentration of airborne PAHs was decreased by 71 - 92 %, when the stove was ignited outdoors (n=3) compared with when the stove is ignited indoors (n = 9). The difference in concentration of N (P = 0.009), Acy (P = 0.013), Ace (P < 0.001), F (P = 0.003), P (P = 0.004), Ant (P = 0.002), BaAnt (P = 0.007), Chr (P = 0.033), BbFl (P = 0.002), BkFl (P = 0.008), BaPyr (P = 0.001), Ipyr (P = 0.001), DBahAnt (P = 0.003) and BghiPer (P < 0.001) was significant, but not Fl (P = 0.180) and Pyr (P = 0.248).

#### Concentration comparison, incense

Table 7: Total PAH levels (ng/m<sup>3</sup>) during coffee ceremonies with- and without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited outdoors.

PAH	MEAN PAH incense (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN PAH no incense (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )
N	$2868.4 \pm 1392.4 \ (n = 7)$	$1929.8 \pm 2671.0 \ (n = 9)$
Acy	$112.0 \pm 54.9 \ (n = 7)$	85.4 ± 98.5 ( <i>n</i> = 9)
Ace	$19.8 \pm 11.4 \ (n = 7)$	$12.2 \pm 12.9 \ (n = 9)$
F	84.6 ± 49.9 ( <i>n</i> = 7)	$49.5 \pm 123.1 \ (n = 9)$
Р	$204.8 \pm 147.1 \ (n = 7)$	$143.6 \pm 235.6 \ (n = 9)$
Ant	$25.7 \pm 23.5 \ (n = 7)$	18.5 ± 44.3 ( <i>n</i> = 9)
Fl	$3.9 \pm 12.5 \ (n = 7)$	$2.7 \pm 15.5 \ (n = 9)$
Pyr	$4.1 \pm 131 \ (n = 7)$	$2.6 \pm 15.9 \ (n = 9)$
BaAnt	$1.2 \pm 6.2 \ (n = 7)$	$0.5 \pm 0.6 \ (n = 9)$
Chr	$1.9 \pm 17.2 \ (n = 7)$	$0.6 \pm 1.0 \ (n = 9)$
BbFl	$5.0 \pm 8.7 (n = 7)$	$1.0 \pm 1.4 \ (n = 9)$
BkFl	$1.2 \pm 3.0 \ (n = 7)$	$0.3 \pm 0.5 \ (n = 9)$
BaPyr	$5.4 \pm 10.0 \ (n = 7)$	$0.9 \pm 1.5 \ (n = 9)$
IPyr	$4.4 \pm 3.8 \ (n = 7)$	$1.7 \pm 3.0 \ (n = 9)$
DBahAnt	$0.5 \pm 0.6 \ (n=7)$	$0.1 \pm 0.4 \ (n = 9)$
BghPer	$5.0 \pm 2.3 \ (n = 7)$	$2.7 \pm 2.7 (n = 9)$

As seen in *Table 7*, the geometric mean concentration of airborne PAHs was decreased by 24-92 %, when no incense was used compared to ceremonies using incense. The difference in concentration of BbFl (P = 0.033) and BaPyr (P = 0.024) was significant, and N (P = 0.736), Acy (P = 0.977), Ace (P = 0.310), F (P = 0.957), P (P = 0.803), Ant (P = 0.959), Fl (P = 0.873), Pyr (P = 0.805), BaAnt (P = 0.103), Chr (P = 0.156), BkFl (P = 0.083), Ipyr (P = 0.244), DBahAnt (P = 0.131) and BghiPer (P = 0.202) was not significant.

Site	N (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Acy (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Ace (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	F (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	$P (ng/m^3)$	Ant (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Fl (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Pyr (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	BaAnt (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Chr (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	BbFl (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )
1	2288,0	36.6	6.8	32.4	160.8	20.4	1.9	2.5	1.6	2.2	3.5
3	1432.5	23.2	3.2	11.0	88.5	7.7	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>0.9</td><td>1.6</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>0.9</td><td>1.6</td></lod<>	0.6	0.9	1.6
6	2909.8	130.9	15.6	62.4	165.1	27.5	11.8	11.2	0.4	0.5	1.9
8	1040.0	167.6	9.6	43.0	101.7	13.5	1.7	1.5	0.9	1.3	2.6
10	729.0	48.9	11.5	21.2	66.5	5.8	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.1	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
15	883.7	30.9	7.6	15.1	47.9	5.2	1.2	1.5	1.2	1.7	2.6
20	9626.5	204.2	39.5	351.4	814.2	143.0	51.2	52.9	1.6	3.3	0.2

Table 8 and 9: PAH  $(ng/m^3)$ , mass of raw coffee beans (g) and charcoal (g) used used during coffee ceremonies without incense, measured indoors of the homes, when the stove is ignited outdoors.

Si	ite	BkFl (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	BaPyr (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	IPyr (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	DBahAnt (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	BghiPer (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	Coffee (g)	Charcoal (g)
	1	1.6	1.5	3.1	<lod< th=""><th>4.0</th><th>60.2</th><th>233.0</th></lod<>	4.0	60.2	233.0
	3	0.3	1.6	1.0	0.1	2.0	56.0	225.1
	6	0.4	2.2	3.4	<lod< th=""><th>3.0</th><th>128.3</th><th>197.3</th></lod<>	3.0	128.3	197.3
	8	0.9	2.1	5.6	0.5	5.2	73.4	129.5
1	0	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th>0.6</th><th>36.1</th><th>36.2</th></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th>0.6</th><th>36.1</th><th>36.2</th></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th>0.6</th><th>36.1</th><th>36.2</th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th>0.6</th><th>36.1</th><th>36.2</th></lod<>	0.6	36.1	36.2
1	5	1.1	1.0	1.0	<lod< th=""><th>1.6</th><th>72.8</th><th>64.8</th></lod<>	1.6	72.8	64.8
2	20	0.6	0.2	9.5	1.2	9.2	30.3	330.0

As seen in *Table 8* and *Table 9* the only PAHs that were altered by the mass of coffee roasted during the ceremonies was BaPyr (P = 0.031). N (P = 0.035) and BghiPer (P = 0.048) were the only PAHs that were altered by the mass of coffee roasted during the ceremonies.





Figure 12: How often the Ethiopian women perform a coffee ceremony.

As seen in *Figure 12*, an majority of the women, 62 % (n = 28) perform one coffee ceremony on a daily basis, followed by 11 % (n = 5) twice a day, 9 % (n = 4) thrice a week, 7 % (n = 3) thrice a day, 7 % (n = 3) once a week, and 4 % (n = 2) once a week.



Figure 13: Concerns about the smoke from the coffee ceremony.

As seen in *Figure 13*, two thirds, 67 % (n = 30) of the women answered that they are not concerned to the question "Are you concerned about the smoke from the coffee ceremony?".



Figure 14: Fuel preference/usage for coffee ceremony.

As seen in *Figure 14*, an majority, 89 % (n = 40) of the women use/prefers charcoal for the coffee ceremony, 11 % (n = 5) use/prefers electricity.



Figure 15: Reasons for choosing charcoal as fuel for coffee preparation.

As seen in *Figure 15*, most women (n = 13) stated that they use charcoal, since it gives a better taste to the coffee, other reasons for using charcoal was: (n = 8) it is cheap, (n = 8) good accessibility, (n = 8) cultural reasons/normal to use, (n = 8) practical reasons, and (n = 5) because it is aesthetically appealing/beautiful (note that some persons gave multiple answers). Reasons for using electricity: (n = 3) it is quick to use.

## 7 Discussion

Decreasing the concentrations of indoor air pollution is important for reducing the risk of health effects like cancer, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory infections, and lower birth weight of children. Previous studies have mostly been focusing on the health effects of the smoke of fossil fuels (Naeher et al., 2007).

The data from the measurements of this study are therefore important, for better understanding the exposure of indoor air pollution. This is especially crucial for sub-Saharan Africa where 20 % of the total premature deaths in the world are caused every year by indoor air pollution (World Bank, 2011). In Ethiopia, women are an exposed group since they spend a lot of time indoors cooking and preparing coffee among other things, without any adequate ventilation in the homes (Pennise et al., 2009). In this study, most participants were chosen among a cohort of 2000 women in Adama, who are participating in health related studies regarding tuberculosis and preeclampsia in the town, this selection may have affected the result. It would therefore be of interest to study ceremonies from other participant e.g from rural areas of Ethiopia, or more participants in general outside the cohort.

#### Particle concentration

The geometric mean concentration of PM2.5 for all the measured ceremonies held indoors was 0.98 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (range: 0.21 - 1.44 mg/m<sup>3</sup>), the variation in concentrations can be described by the location of ignition and the choice of using incense or not. Measurements conducted by Keil et al. (2010) that reported a geometric mean concentration of PM<sub>4</sub> of 1.03 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (range: <0.72 to 2.40 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). Although the result from this study reports concentration in PM2.5, the results can still be considered to be in line with the study from Keil et al. (2010) since an majority of particles emitted during combustion of biomass has an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 1µm (Tiwari et al., 2014), meaning that the different particle fractions ( $PM_{2.5}$  and  $PM_4$ ) would probably not play any significant role in these cases. As mentioned earlier, the measurements was not done in the womens breathing zone during the time of ignition, for the ceremonies held indoors and there the stove was ignited outdoors, this will of course affect the result but probably not to a any large scale. The result of  $PN_{0.3}$  from the Purple Air monitor could neither be used since these particles reached levels above the limit of the instrument, suggesting that the Purple Air monitor is not the optimal instrument to use for these types of measurements.

Out of the 25 ceremonies held indoors in this study, 21 exceeded the 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> 24h mean exposure limit of PM2.5 set by WHO, during the ceremonies alone (World Health Organization, 2010). The result clearly indicates that different actions are required regarding the procedure of the ceremonies, to reduce the risk of heath related issues, especially since the ceremonies are preformed on a daily basis. The trend shows that GM of  $PM_{2.5}$  (P = 0.105) seem to increase when the stove was ignited indoors compared to outdoors, the difference is not significant, probably due to small sample sizes, GM of  $PN_{0.5}$  (P = 0.018) and  $PN_1$  (P = 0.024) showed an statistically increase when the stove was ignited indoors compared with outdoors. The difference are due to the ignition phase, which contribute to additional air pollution to the indoor environment, especially  $PN_{0.5}$ . GM of  $PM_{2.5}$  (P = 0.014) and  $PN_{0.5}$ (P = 0.011) was statistically higher during ceremonies with incense compared with ceremonies without, this can as well be explain by that incense contribute to additional air pollution, which may includes more particles with an aerodynamic diameter larger than 0.5µm, compared with the air pollution emitted from ignition or roasting, however, this cannot be determined with certainty due to a small sample size. More measurements are therefore reacquired. The variations of concentration (range: 0.66 - $4.51 \text{ mg/m}^3$ ) during the coffee ceremonies when incense is used can partly be described by the fact that different incense was used between ceremonies and those can have different types of additives. The high concentrations, partially contributed by the use of incense, involves an increased risk of cancer. Some studies, however, have not found any connection between lung cancer and incense burning, suggesting that particle concentration depends on the type of incense (Jetter et al., 2002). Further research are essential to better understand which characteristics of the incense that can be derived to cancer. Since the use of incense increases PM and PAH, it would also be of interest to investigate if additives of CaCO<sub>3</sub> to the incense used in Ethiopia would decrease the concentrations similar to experiments conducted by Yang et al. (2012).

#### Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

As stated by World Health Organization. (2010) no threshold for PAHs can be determined and all indoor exposures to these are considered relevant to health. It is difficult to say at which concentrations the PAHs might affect human health, more research are therefore required to better understand the health effects of breathing in these pollutants. The data can, however, still indicate that igniting the stove inside contributing to the highest levels of PAHs and therefore affecting most the women's health. The results show that the airborne concentration of most PAHs was higher when the stove was ignited indoors compared to outdoors, concentrations ranging from 11108 ng/m<sup>3</sup> (N) to 0.042 ng/m<sup>3</sup> (BaAnt) indoors. The concentration of BbFl and BaPyr were increased when incense was used during the ceremonies. The PAHs N and BghiPer could be linked to increasing the mass of charcoal used during the coffee ceremonies. BaPyr (P = 0.031) was the only PAH increases with an increasing mass of coffee that's roasted during the ceremonies. The increasing levels of PAH are problematic, especially for BaPyr which is carcinogenic (World Health Organization, 2010) the highest concentration found in this study was  $33.13 \text{ ng/m}^3$ , this result further demonstrate the importance of tackle the issue with indoor air pollution from the coffee ceremonies. It would as well be of interest to measure the CO, NOx and soot concentrations during the coffee ceremonies since these also are emitted during combustion om biomass and have a harmful effect on the health.

#### Survey

One third of the women expressed that they were concerned about the smoke, this number varies a bit from the result presented by Keil et al. (2010) which showed that half of the participating women expressed concern over their exposures from the coffee ceremonies. The result may be affected by the number of participants in each study, suggesting that the concerns about the smoke during coffee ceremonies can be a bit lower than reported by Keil et al. (2010) in urban areas. The respondent's attitudes towards using other fuels than charcoal for the coffee ceremonies were almost completely of no interests. The proportion of women using charcoal in this study was 89 %, the reasons to use charcoal reported to be: the better taste of the coffee, lower price of the fuel, higher accessibility, cultural/normal, practical reasons, and esthetical appealing/beautiful to use.

Reasons for using electricity was that it was quicker to use. Similar preferences have also been reported in studies by Keil et al. (2010) and Alem et al. (2010). This result can, therefore, confirm results from previous studies. Reporting biases in the answers from the survey are possible in this study, previous studies have shown that respondents who attend face-to-face interviews are more likely to give

"... more socially desirable responding and lower accuracy than computer-administered questionnaires or paper-and-pencil questionnaires" (p.885) (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, Lee, & Podsakoff, 2003). As mentioned earlier it would also be of interest to study ceremonies from other participant outside the cohort, to reduce further potential bias.

## 8 Conclusion

The data has shown that particle concentration ( $PM_{2.5}$  and  $PN_{0.5}$ ) and PAHs increase when stoves are ignited indoors. The use of incense further increases the amount of particles and PAHs. BaPyr increased with the mass of coffee beans roasted, N and BghiPer increased with the mass of charcoal. Based on the results of this study, it is strongly suggested to ignite stoves outdoors and use less incense. The high concentrations of  $PM_{2.5}$ ,  $PN_{0.5}$  and BaPyr might be hazardous when preparing coffee daily. Therefore further investigations are needed to achieve more knowledge about the other PAHs as well as other chemical constituents and their health effects. The results from this study might help policy makers to develop informative guidelines on the possible health effects of the coffee ceremony, while preserving the cultural aspect of the ceremony. As Tefera et al. (2016) discuss, raising awareness about the harmful particles, to the public is important for improving the indoor environment.

## Acknowledgments

First I would like to thank my supervisor Christina Isaxon of the Department of Design Sciences, Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology at Lund University; Ebba Malmqvist of the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine at Lund University; Axel Eriksson of the Department of Design Sciences, Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology at Lund University and Asmamaw Abera Kebede of Ethiopia Institute of Water Resource, Water and Public Health at Addis Ababa University, for their commitment in this thesis and for making the field study in Ethiopia feasible. I also would like to thank Tseganesh Mitiku Mekonnen which has been with me during all the visits to the women homes, and translated all conversation between Amharic and English. I would like to grant my gratitude to Bizuayehu Jembere and Eyuel Asemahegn Bogale for their help with finding the participating women in this study. I also want to acknowledge Annette Krais and Bo Strandberg of the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine at Lund University, for their time and help with the laboratory parts of this thesis. Finally I would like to give my thanks to Armauer Hansen Research Institute, which made it possible to conduct this study in Adama, Ethiopia.

This thesis was possible to conduct thanks to the scholarship Minor Field Studies, founded by Styrelsen for internationellt utvecklingssamarbete (Sida), and a travel grant from Stiftelsen ÅForsk.

## References

Abebaw, D. (2007). Household Determinants of Fuelwood Choice in Urban Ethiopia: a Case Study of Jimma Town. *The Journal of Developing Areas. Volume* (41), 117-126. DOI: 10.1353/jda.2008.0009

Alem, S., Duraisamy, J., Legesse, E., Seboka, Y., & Mitiku, E. (2010). Wood Charcoal Supply to Addis Ababa City and its Effect on the Environment. *Energy & Environment. Volume* (21), 601-609. DOI: 10.1260/0958-305X.21.6.601

Benka-Coker, M. L., Tadele, W., Milano, A., Getaneh, D., & Stokes, H. (2018). A case study of the ethanol CleanCook stove intervention and potential scale-up in Ethiopia. *Energy for Sustainable Development. Volume* (46), 53-64. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2018.06.009

Buonanno, G., Marks, G. B., & Morawska, L. (2013). Health effects of daily airborne particle dose in children: Direct association between personal dose and respiratory health effects. *Environmental Pollution. Volume* (180), 246-250. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.05.039

Central Statistical Agency. (2016). Welfare Monitoring Survey 2015/16. Retrieved from [http://www.csa.gov.et/survey-report/category/356-wms-2016] on 2019-01-17

Cheng, Y., Bechtold, W., Yu, C., & Hung, I. (1995). Incense Smoke: Characterization and Dynamics in Indoor Environments. *Aerosol Science And Technology. Volume* (23), 271-281. DOI: 10.1080/02786829508965312

Das, I., Jagger, P., & Yeatts, K. (2017). Biomass Cooking Fuels and Health Outcomes for Women in Malawi. *EcoHealth. Volume* (14), 7–19. DOI: 10.1007/s10393-016-1190-0

Dyjack. D., Soret. S., Chen. L., Hwang. R., Nazari. N., Gaede. D. (2005). Residential environmental risks for reproductive age women in developing countries. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. Volume* (50). DOI: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2005.02.001

Fullerton, D. G., Bruce, N., & Gordon, S. B. (2008). Indoor air pollution from biomass fuel smoke is a major health concern in the developing world. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. *Volume* (102), 843-851. DOI: 10.1016/j.trstmh.2008.05.028

Gebreegziabher, Z., Beyene, A. D., Bluffstone, R., Martinsson, P., Mekonnen, A., & Toman, M. A. (2018). Fuel savings, cooking time and user satisfaction with improved biomass cookstoves: Evidence from controlled cooking tests in Ethiopia. *Resource and Energy Economics. Volume* (52), 173-185. DOI: 10.1016/j.reseneeco.2018.01.006

Géhin, E., Ramalho, O., & Kirchner, S. (2008). Size distribution and emission rate measurement of fine and ultrafine particle from indoor human activities. *Atmospheric Environment. Volume* (42), 8341-8352. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.07.021

Ho, S. S. H., & Yu, J. Z. (2002). Concentrations of formaldehyde and other carbonyls in environments affected by incense burning. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*. *Volume* (4), 728-733. DOI: 10.1039/b200998f

Hussein, T., Glytsos, T., Ondráček, J., Dohányosová, P., Ždímal, V., Hämeri, K., Lazaridis, M., Smolík, J. & Kulmala, M. (2006). Particle size characterization and emission rates during indoor activities in a house. *Atmospheric Environment. Volume* (40), 4285-4307. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.03.053

International Energy Agency. (2006). World Energy Outlook 2006. Retrieved from [https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/energy/world-energy-outlook-2006\_weo-2006-en;jsessionid=Mh8EUU4i0oPACvDF1LP4ro66.ip-10-240-5-25] on 2018-12-12

Isaxon, C., Gudmundsson, A., Nordin, E. Z., Lönnblad, L., Dahl, A., Wieslander, G., Bohgard, A., & Wierzbicka, A. (2015). Contribution of indoor-generated particles to residential exposure. *Atmospheric Environment. Volume* (106), 458-466. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.07.053

Jakobsson, U., & Westergren, A. (2005). Enkätmetodik – en svår konst. *Vård i Norden. Volume* (25), 72-73. DOI: 10.1177/010740830502500315

Jetter, J. J., Guo, Z., McBrian, J. A., & Flynn, M. R. (2002). Characterization of emissions from burning incense. *Science of The Total Environment. Volume* (295), 51-67. DOI: 10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00043-8

Karekezi, S., & Majoro, L. (2002). Improving modern energy services for Africa's urban poor. *Energy Policy. Volume* (30), 1015-1028. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(02)00055-1

Karolinska Institutet[b]. *Kväveoxid*. Retrieved from [https://ki.se/imm/kvaveoxid] on 2019-01-30

Karolinska Institutet[a]. *PAH (Polycykliska aromatiska kolväten)*. Retrieved from [https://ki.se/imm/pah-polycykliska-aromatiska-kolvaten] on 2019-01-30

Karolinska Institutet[c]. *Soot*. Retrieved from [https://mesh.kib.ki.se/term/D053260/soot] on 2019-01-30

Kebede, B., Bekele, A., & Kedir, E. (2002). *Affordability of Modern Fuels and Patterns of Energy Demand in Urban Ethiopia*. Retrieved from [http://www.afrepren.org/Pubs/WorkingPapers/wpp295\_sum.htm] on 2019-01-31

Keil, C., Kassa, H., Brown, A., Kumie, A., & Tefera, W. (2010). Inhalation Exposures to Particulate Matter and Carbon Monoxide during Ethiopian Coffee Ceremonies in Addis Ababa: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health. Volume* (2010), 1-8. DOI: 10.1155/2010/213960

Kemikalieinspektionen. (2016). *Polycykliska aromatiska kolväten (PAH)*. Retrieved from [https://www.kemi.se/prio-start/kemikalier-i-praktiken/kemikaliegrupper/polycykliska-aromatiska-kolvaten-pah] on 2019-07-22

Lee, S., & Wang, B. (2004). Characteristics of emissions of air pollutants from burning of incense in a large environmental chamber. *Atmospheric Environment. Volume* (38), 941-951. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2003.11.002

Levine, R. J., Maynard, S. E., Qian, C., Lim, K-H., England, L. J., Yu, K. F., Schisterman, E. F., Thadhani, R., Sachs, B. P., Epstein, F. H., Sibai, B. M., Sukhatme, V. P., Karumanchi, S. A. (2004). Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. *The New England Journal of Medicine. Volume* (350), 672-683. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa031884

Klein, M. (2018). *Assessment and characterization of indoor air pollution*. Université Grenoble Alpes & Lund University, Lund.

Lung, S., & Hu, S. (2003). Generation rates and emission factors of particulate matter and particle-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of incense sticks. *Chemosphere*. *Volume* (50), 673-679. DOI: 10.1016/s0045-6535(02)00613-6

Lund University. (2018). Matlagningen ger ökade hälsorisker bland kvinnor i Etiopien. Retrieved from [http://www.lth.se/nyheter-och-press/nyheter/visa-nyhet/article/matlagningenger-oekade-haelsorisker-bland-kvinnor-i/] on 2018-09-14 Löfroth, G., Stensman, C., Brandhorst-Stazkorn, M. (1991). Indoor sources of mutagenic aerosol particulate matter: smoking, cooking and incense burning. *Mutation Research. Volume* (261), 21-28. DOI: 10.1016/0165-1218(91)90094-3

Malmqvist, E. (2014). Exposure to air pollution during pregnancy and health risks for mother and child. Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine.

Mekonnen, A. (1999). Rural household biomass fuel production and consumption in Ethiopia: A case study. *Journal of Forest Economics. Volume* (5). 69-97. Retrieved from [http://efdinitiative.org/ethiopia/publications/l/rural-household-biomassfuel-production-and-consumption-ethiopia-case-study/1455] on 2019-07-18

Mishra, V., Dai, X. L., Smith, K. R., & Mika, L. (2004). Maternal exposure to biomass smoke and reduced birth weight in Zimbabwe. *Annals of Epidemiology. Volume* (14), 720-747. DOI: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2004.01.009

Morawska, L., Afshari, A., Bae, G. N., Buonanno, G., Chao, C. Y. H., Hänninen, O., Hofmann, W., Isaxon, C., Jayaratne, E. R., Pasanen, P., Salthammer, T., Waring, M., & Wierzbicka, A. (2013). Indoor aerosols: from personal exposure to risk assessment. *Indoor Air. Volume* (23), 462-487. DOI: 10.1111/ina.12044

Morawska, L., Ayoko, G. A., Bae, G. N., Buonanno, G., Chao, C. Y. H., Clifford, S., Fu, S. C., Hänninen, O., Isaxon, C., Mazaheri, M., Salthammer, T., Waring, M. S., & Wierzbicka, A. (2017). Airborne particles in indoor environment of homes, schools, offices and aged care facilities: The main routes of exposure. *Environment International. Volume* (108), 75-83. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2017.07.025

Mugo, F., & Ong, C. (2006). *Lessons of eastern Africa's unsustainable charcoal business*. Retrieved from [https://www.worldagroforestry.org/downloads/Publications/PDFS/wp06119.pdf] on

2019-01-31

Naeher, L. P., Brauer, M., Lipsett, M., Zelikoff, J. T., Simpson, C. D., Koenig, J. Q., & Smith, K. R. (2007). Woodsmoke Health Effects: A Review. *Inhalation Toxicology*. *Volume* (19), 67-106. DOI: 10.1080/08958370600985875

Naidja, L., Ali-Khodja, H., & Khardi, S. (2017). Particulate matter from road traffic in Africa. *Journal of Earth Sciences and Geotechnical Engineering*. *Volume* (7), 289-304. [https://www.scienpress.com/journal\_focus.asp?main\_id=59&Sub\_id=IV&Issue=125951]

Ohura, T., Amagai, T., Fusaya, M., & Matsushita, H. (2004). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in indoor and outdoor environments and factors affecting their concentrations. *Environmental Science & Technology. Volume* (38), 77-83. DOI: 10.1021/es0305120

Pennise, D., Brant, S., Agbeve, S. M., Quaye, W., Mengesha, F., Tadele, W., & Wofchuck, T. (2009). Indoor air quality impacts of an improved wood stove in Ghana and an ethanol stove in Ethiopia. *Energy for Sustainable Development. Volume* (13), 71-76. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2009.04.003

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common Method Biases in Behavioral Research: A Critical Review of the Literature and Recommended Remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology. Volume* (88), 879–903. DOI: 10.1037/0021-9101.885.879

Sanbata, H., Asfaw, A., & Kumie, A. (2014). Indoor air pollution in slum neighbourhoods of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Atmospheric Environment. Volume* (89), 230-234. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.01.003

See, S. W., & Balasubramanian, R. (2011). Characterization of fine particle emissions from incense burning. *Building and Environment. Volume* (46), 1074-1080. DOI: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2010.11.006

Spalding-Fecher, R., Winkler, H., & Mwakasonda, S. (2005). Energy and the World Summit on Sustainable Development: what next?. *Energy Policy. Volume* (33), 99-112. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(03)00203-9

Stabile, L., Fuoco, F., & Buonanno, G. (2012). Characteristics of particles and black carbon emitted by combustion of incenses, candles and anti-mosquito products. *Building And Environment. Volume* (56), 184-191. DOI: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2012.03.005

Strandberg, B., Julander, A., Sjöström, M., Lewné, M., Hatice, K. A., & Bigert, C. (2018). Evaluation of polyurethane foam passive air sampler (PUF) as a tool for occupational PAH measurements. *Chemosphere. Volume* (190), 35-42. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.09.106

Tefera, W., Asfaw, A., Gilliland, F., Worku, A., Wondimagegn, M., Kumie, A., Samet, J., & Berhane, K. (2016). Indoor and Outdoor Air Pollution- related Health Problem in Ethiopia: Review of Related Literature. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development. Volume* (30), 5-16. [https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ejhd/article/view/147312/136818]

Tiwari. M., Sahu. S., Bhangare. R., Yousaf. A., Pandit. G. (2014). Particle size distributions of ultrafine combustion aerosols generated from household fuels. *Atmospheric Pollution Research. Volume* (5), 145-150.

Tucho, G. T., Weesie, P. D. M., & Nonhebel, S. (2014). Assessment of renewable energy resources potential for large scale and standalone applications in Ethiopia. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. Volume* (40), 422-431. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.167

United Nations[a]. The Sustainable Development Agenda. Retrieved from [https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/development-agenda/] on 2019-01-11

United Nations[c]. Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy. Retrieved from [https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/energy/] on 2019-01-21

United Nations[b]. Goal 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages. Retrieved from [https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/health/] on 2019-01-21

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2014). *Priority Pollutant List*. Retrieved from [https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/prioritypollutant-list-epa.pdf] on 2019-05-21

Vetenskapsrådet. (2017). *God Forskningssed*. Retrieved from [https://www.vr.se/download/18.2412c5311624176023d25b05/1529480532631/Godforskningssed\_VR\_2017.pdf] on 2019-02-05

Wallace, L. (2006). Indoor Sources of Ultrafine and Accumulation Mode Particles: Size Distributions, Size-Resolved Concentrations, and Source Strengths. *Aerosol Science And Technology. Volume* (40), 348-360. DOI: 10.1080/02786820600612250

World Bank. (2011). Ethanol as a household fuel in Madagascar : health benefits, economic assessment, and review of African lessons for scaling-up : summary report. Retrieved from [http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/564801468055752320/Ethanolas-a-household-fuel-in-Madagascar-health-benefits-economic-assessment-and-review-of-African-lessons-for-scaling-up-summary-report] on 2019-01-17

World Bank[a]. GDP per capita (current US\$). Retrieved from [https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=ET] on 2018-12-21

World Bank[b]. Rural population (% of total population). Retrieved from [https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS?locations=ET] on 2018-12-21

World Health Organization[a]. Ethiopia. Retrieved from [https://www.who.int/countries/eth/en/] on 2019-01-16

World Health Organization. (2004). Global estimates of burden of disease caused by environmental risks. Retrieved from [https://www.who.int/quantifying\_ehimpacts/global/globalair2004/en/] on 2019-01-17

World Health Organization. (2006). WHO Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxid. Retrieved from [http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/69477/WHO\_SDE\_PHE\_OEH \_06.02\_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y] on 2019-01-16

World Health Organization[b]. WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: household fuel combustion. Retrieved from [http://www.who.int/airpollution/guidelines/household-fuel-combustion/en/] on 2018-09-14

World Health Organization. (2010). WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. Retrieved from [http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0009/128169/e94535.pdf] on 2019-01-30

Yang, C., Lin, T., Peng, Y., Lee, S., & Chang, Y. (2012). Reducing Air Pollution Emissions from Burning Incense with the Addition of Calcium Carbonate. *Aerosol And Air Quality Research*, Volume (12), 972-980. DOI: 10.4209/aaqr.2011.09.0145

# Appendix

# Appendix I

Table 10: Answers from survey in random order.

Are you concerned about the smoke from the coffee ceremony?	What are your thoughts on using other fuels than charcoal for the coffee ceremony?
I am not concerned.	I only use charcoal since it gives the coffee a good taste and it is aesthetically appealing.
I am not concerned.	I use charcoal since it is cheap.
I am a little bit concerned, I know the smoke has some effect.	I only use charcoal since it is cultural gives a better taste. It is also aesthetically appealing and easy to handle.
I am not concerned.	I only use charcoal since it gives a good taste to the coffee.
I am concerned, I can feel a headache due to the smoke.	I only use charcoal since it is cheap and easy to handle.
I am not concerned.	I use charcoal since it is normal to use.
I am concerned.	I only use charcoal since it is accessible.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal since it is normal to use.
I am not concerned, since I ignite outside.	I only use charcoal since it is aesthetically appealing.
I am not concerned, since I do the ceremony outside.	I only use charcoal, I have not tried other options.
I am a little bit concerned.	I only use charcoal, it is cheap and I don't have access to electricity.
I am not concerned.	I only use charcoal, since I only have experience from that.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal, since it is easy to handle.
I am not concerned	I usually use charcoal since it is cheap, and the electricity is not reliable.
I am not concerned	I prefer to use electricity since it is quicker to use.
I know that it is harmful, that why I usually ignite outside.	I usually use charcoal, because of cultural reasons.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use charcoal.
I am not concerned, but I ignite outdoors so the house won't get warm	Sometimes I use electricity, but I prefer charcoal since it is a hobby for me.I am also used to it from my childhood.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use electricity, but I use charcoal if guest are around.
I am not concerned, I ignite outside.	I prefer to use charcoal since it is easy to access and are comfortable to use.
I am not concerned, I like the smell of the coffee.	I always use charcoal since it makes the coffee taste better due to a slower heating.
I have some concerns.	I prefer to use charcoal.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal since it is normal to use.
I am concerned, my family have an allergy problem.	I always use electric system.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal since it is cultural and beautiful.

Are you concerned about the smoke from the coffee ceremony?	What are your thoughts on using other fuels than charcoal for the coffee ceremony?
I am not concerned, I like the smell of the coffee.	I usually use charcoal since it makes coffee taste better, electricity makes the coffee boil to fast.
I am a little bit concerned, therefore I ignite outdoors.	I usually use charcoal since the coffee ceremony is not good without it, the charcoal is also aesthetically pleasing.
I have some concern about the smoke from the charcoal.	I usually use charcoal, since it is cheap and accessible. Sometimes I use wood as well.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to charcoal since the electricity is not reliable.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use electricity since it is quicker to use.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use charcoal since it gives a better taste.
I am concerned about the kids exposure to the smoke.	I prefer to use electricity since it is quicker to use.
I am a bit concerned, but I like the smell of the coffee-	I only use charcoal, it is cheap and I don't have access to electricity.
I am concerned, I know it can have some effects.	I prefer charcoal for practical reasons.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use charcoal since it is cheap and accessible.
I am concerned.	I prefer to use charcoal because of cultural reasons and since it is accessible.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use electricity since it is quicker to use.
I am not concerned.	I only use charcoal since it makes the coffee taste better.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal since it is easy to use and gives a better taste to the coffee. I use an electric system sometimes.
I am not concerned.	I prefer to use charcoal since it is cheap.
I am not concerned.	I use charcoal since it makes the coffee taste better.
I am a bit concerned, therefore I shake the coffee beans outdoors.	I prefer to use charcoal it since it is cultural and makes the coffee tastier.
I am not concerned.	I use charcoal since it makes the coffee taste better.
I am not concerned.	I usually use charcoal since it is comfortable to use. I use an electric system sometimes.
I am not concerned.	I use charcoal since it gives the coffee a better taste. it is also aesthetically appealing for the ceremony and easy to handle.

Table 10 show the answers from the respondents who took part in the study.

# Appendix II

Site	Location	Ignition	Incense	MEAN $PM_{2.5} (mg/m^3)$
1	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.11
2	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	3.51
3	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.84
4	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	0.83
5	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	0.66
6	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.49
7	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	4.51
8	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.50
9	Outdoor	Outdoor	No	0.21
10	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.88
11	Indoor	Indoor	No	1.03
12	Indoor	Indoor*	No	0.37
13	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	1.85
14	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	1.44
15	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.38
16	Indoor	Indoor*	No	1.89
17	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	3.27
18	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	0.72
19	Indoor	Outdoor	No	1.10
20	Indoor	Outdoor	No	1.36
21	Indoor	Indoor	Yes	0.89
22	Indoor	Outdoor	No	0.91
23	Outdoor	Outdoor	Yes	0.31
24	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	2.02
25	Outdoor	Outdoor	Yes	1.44
26	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	0.53
27	Indoor	Indoor	No	1.60
28	Indoor	Indoor	No	0.93

Table 11: PM2.5 concentration  $(mg/m^3)$  from all measurements.

Table 11 shows the concentration of  $\ensuremath{\text{PM}_{2.5}}$  from all the ceremonies.

Site	Location	Ignition	Incense	MEAN $PN_{0.5}$ (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN $PN_1$ (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN $PN_{2.5}$ (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN $PN_5$ (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	MEAN $PN_{10}$ (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )
6	Indoor	Outdoor	No	8949	2298	340	98	24
7	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	12361	6648	1889	711	209
8	Indoor	Outdoor	No	6963	2252	354	99	23
9	Outdoor	Outdoor	No	2281	742	129	40	10
16	Indoor	Indoor*	No	14684	5438	809	240	62
17	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	13111	5903	1263	423	114
18	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	10546	3663	521	130	28
19	Indoor	Outdoor	No	10368	3104	472	146	39
20	Indoor	Outdoor	No	9295	3153	645	201	50
21	Indoor	Indoor	Yes	11329	3950	630	185	44
22	Indoor	Outdoor	No	10933	3038	523	163	43
23	Outdoor	Outdoor	Yes	4354	1351	261	84	25
24	Indoor	Outdoor	Yes	16243	8349	1503	422	100
25	Outdoor	Outdoor	Yes	8647	3621	775	257	69
26	Indoor	Indoor*	Yes	10748	3322	414	102	21
27	Indoor	Indoor	No	16474	5681	866	257	64
28	Indoor	Indoor	No	12714	3772	479	130	31

Table 12:  $\text{PN}_{0.5},\,\text{PN}_1,\,\text{PN}_{2.5},\,\text{PN}_5$  and  $\text{PN}_{10}$  (ng/m³) from all measurements.

Table 12 shows the concentration of  $PN_{0.5}$ ,  $PN_1$ ,  $PN_{2.5}$ ,  $PN_5$  and  $PN_{10}$  from all the ceremonies.

## Appendix III

Site	Filter weight before (mg)	Filter weight after (mg)	Difference
7	135.18	134.63	0.55
8	111.86	112.00	0.14
16	124.74	124.75	0.01
17	110.08	110.61	0.53
18	111.22	111.49	0.27
19	125.79	125.91	0.12
20	112.75	112.91	0.16
21	109.29	109.52	0.23
22	109.34	109.57	0.23
23	128.19	128.41	0.22
24	112.89	113.26	0.37
25	116.32	116.51	0.19
26	130.08	130.24	0.16
27	119.87	120.26	0.39
28	112.1	112.3	0.20
Blank 1	125.45	125.45	0.00
Blank 2	117.44	117.44	0.00
Blank 3	117.51	117.52	0.01
Blank 4	109.08	109.17	0.09
Blank 5	119.60	119.61	0.01

Table 13: Mass (mg) of filter before and after sampling.

As seen in *Table 13* the difference in weight of the filter ranged from 0.01 to 0.55 mg, before compared with after the sampling.

PAH	m/z	Retention time (min)
N	128	12.11
N (IS)	136	12.06
Acy	152	15.92
Acy (IS)	160	15.89
Ace	154	16.34
Ace (IS)	164	16.27
F	166	17.87
F (IS)	176	17.78
Р	178	22.27
P (IS)	188	22.15
Ant	178	22.58
Ant (IS)	188	22.47
Fl	202	30.21
Fl (IS)	212	30.08
Pyr	202	31.73
Pyr (IS)	212	31.61
BaAnt	228	40.99
BaAnt (IS)	240	40.81
Chr	228	41.20
Chr (IS)	240	41.02
BbFl	252	48.71
BbFl (IS)	264	48.53
BkFl	252	48.87
BkFl (IS)	264	48.75
BaPyr	252	50.71
BaPyr (IS)	264	50.57
IPyr	276	57.46
IPyr (IS)	288	57.34
DBahAnt	276	57.81
DBahAnt (IS)	288	57.61
BghPer	276	58.80
BghPer (IS)	288	58.66

Table 14: Results from gas chromatography mass spectrometry analysis, with SIM mode.

As seen in *Table 14* retention time from the gas chromatography mass spectrometry analysis ranged from N (IS) 12.06 min to BghPer (IS) 58.66 min.



WWW.CEC.LU.SE WWW.LU.SE

Lunds universitet

Miljövetenskaplig utbildning Centrum för miljö- och klimatforskning Ekologihuset 223 62 Lund